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FREYERMUTH V. CREDIT BUREAU SERVICES:
THE EIGHTH CIRCUIT INCORRECTLY

INTERPRETS THE PROTECTIONS AFFORDED BY
THE FAIR DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES ACT

AND OVERESTIMATES CONSUMERS’
KNOWLEDGE OF THEIR LEGAL RIGHTS

I. INTRODUCTION

When the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit
addressed what debt collection practices and methods were prohibited
by the Fair Debt Collection Practices Act1 (“FDCPA”), it determined
that creditors could attempt to collect time-barred debt without violat-
ing the FDCPA if legal action was not threatened or taken.2  Congress
enacted the FDCPA to protect consumers from creditors by prohibit-
ing creditors from using false, misleading, and abusive debt collection
practices.3  Several portions of the FDCPA focus on a variety of pro-
hibited debt collection practices.4  Section 1692e(5) prohibits threats
to take impermissible legal action and § 1692e(2)(A) prohibits the
false and misleading representation of the legal status or character of
debt.5  In Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Services,6 the Eighth Circuit
found that creditors did not violate the FDCPA, specifically
§ 1692e(5), when attempting to collect time-barred debt if creditors
did not threaten to take impermissible legal action.7  Since the Eighth
Circuit’s opinion in Freyermuth, several other United States courts of
appeal have determined that another portion of the FDCPA,
§ 1692e(2)(A), is applicable to creditors’ attempts to collect time-

1. Pub. L. No. 95-109, 91 Stat. 874 (1977) (codified as amended at 15 U.S.C.
§§ 1692 through 1692p.).

2. See Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Servs., 248 F.3d 767, 771 (8th Cir. 2001) (de-
termining that it was not a violation of the FDCPA for creditors to attempt to collect
debt after statutes of limitations have run, so long as legal action has not been
threatened).

3. Fair Debt Collection Practices Act § 807, 15 U.S.C. § 1692e (2012). See
Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (acknowledging that Congress enacted the FDCPA to stop
creditors’ use of abusive and deceptive debt collection practices).

4. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.
5. Id.
6. 248 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2001).
7. Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771.
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barred debt.8  This provision prohibits such debt collection practices,
even without the threat of legal action.9

In Freyermuth, the Eighth Circuit addressed whether Credit Bu-
reau Services violated the FDCPA by sending collection letters in an
attempt to collect time-barred debt from returned checks written by
Troy Freyermuth to various merchants over several years.10  The
court ultimately held that if creditors did not threaten or take legal
action, they could attempt to collect time-barred debt without violat-
ing the FDCPA.11  The court reasoned that since the statute of limita-
tions only limited judicial remedies to collect debt and did not
eliminate the debt itself, creditors could seek voluntary repayment of
that debt.12

This Note will first review the facts and holding of Freyermuth.13

This Note will then examine the FDCPA and the purpose Congress
wanted it to serve.14  This Note will also examine the unsophisticated
consumer standard used to evaluate debt collection practices and sub-
sequent interpretations of the FDCPA by other United States courts of
appeal.15  This Note will argue that the Eighth Circuit’s failure to in-
terpret the protections afforded to consumers by the FDCPA led to the
court’s failure to effectuate the purpose Congress intended the FDCPA
to serve.16  This Note will then show that the Eighth Circuit failed to
adequately apply the unsophisticated consumer standard when evalu-
ating attempts to collect-time barred debt, and in doing so overesti-
mated consumers’ knowledge of their legal rights.17  This Note will
also demonstrate that the Eighth Circuit failed to address an applica-
ble portion of the FDCPA when evaluating creditors’ attempts to col-
lect time-barred debt.18  Finally, this Note will conclude that the
Eighth Circuit incorrectly interpreted the FDCPA and the protections

8. See McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC, 744 F.3d 1010, 1020 (7th Cir. 2014)
(determining that the plain language interpretation of the FDCPA shows that
§ 1692e(2)(A) is applicable); see also Daugherty v. Convergent Outsourcing, Inc., 836
F.3d 507, 513 (5th Cir. 2016) (determining that collection letters that do not disclose the
status of debt as time-barred or acknowledge risks of partial payment could violate the
FDCPA pursuant to § 1692e(2)(A)); Buchanan v. Northland Grp., 776 F.3d 393, 399 (6th
Cir. 2015) (acknowledging that the phrase “settlement offer” in a collection letter could
mislead consumers about the legal status of debt and violate § 1692e(2)(A) of the
FDCPA).

9. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A).
10. Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 769-70.
11. Id. at 771.
12. Id.
13. See infra notes 20-50 and accompanying text.
14. See infra notes 51-70 and accompanying text.
15. See infra notes 71-142 and accompanying text.
16. See infra notes 155-167 and accompanying text.
17. See infra notes 171-186 and accompanying text.
18. See infra notes 187-203 and accompanying text.
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afforded to consumers in regards to the collection of time-barred
debt.19

II. FACTS AND HOLDING

In Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Services,20 a debtor, Troy
Freyermuth, brought an action against Credit Bureau Services Inc.,
doing business as Checkmate of Fremont (“Checkmate”), alleging
Checkmate violated the FDCPA.21  From May 11, 1990, to April 8,
1998, Troy Freyermuth wrote fourteen checks to various Nebraska
merchants that were returned for insufficient funds.22  The merchants
referred Freyermuth’s checks to Checkmate for collection.23

Checkmate sent notices to Freyermuth’s last known address, and the
first notice informed him that an outstanding balance was due imme-
diately.24  The notice included an amount due, a service charge, and
indicated the balance was payable to multiple merchants.25  After re-
ceiving the first notice, Freyermuth paid the principal amount due but
did not remit payment for the service charge.26  Freyermuth received
a second notice, dated May 6, 1998, indicating amounts due for unpaid
service charges and an additional returned check.27

Freyermuth paid the principal balance on half of the returned
checks but never remitted payment for the service charges in the ini-
tial or follow-up notices.28  Freyermuth requested the names of the
original creditors and the principal amount for each returned check.29

Within two weeks, Checkmate provided a list of eleven creditors and
the principal amount due for each creditor but did not list the dates
the checks were written or received.30  Eleven months later,
Freyermuth filed a claim alleging that Checkmate violated the
FDCPA by using abusive debt collection practices.31

19. See infra notes 204-211 and accompanying text.
20. 248 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2001).
21. Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Servs., 248 F.3d 767, 769 (8th Cir. 2001).
22. Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 769.
23. Id.  Six checks were referred in 1990, two in 1994, five in 1995, and one in 1998.

Id.
24. Brief & Addendum of Appellant at 5, Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Servs., 248

F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2000) (No. 00-2661), 2000 WL 33983567, at *5.
25. Id.
26. Id.
27. Id.
28. Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 769.
29. Id.
30. Id. Freyermuth sent a request for original creditor information on May 20,

1998, and on June 2, 1998, Checkmate responded in writing with the requested infor-
mation. Id.; Brief & Addendum of Appellant, supra note 24, at 6.

31. Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 769.  Freyermuth filed the action on May 5, 1999. Id.
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Freyermuth filed his claim in the United States District Court for
the District of Nebraska claiming Checkmate violated the FDCPA by
attempting to collect service fees.32  Checkmate moved for summary
judgment.33  In response, Freyermuth added another claim that al-
leged Checkmate violated the FDCPA by attempting to collect time-
barred debts.34  The district court granted Checkmate’s motion for
summary judgment, holding that both of Feyermuth’s claims were
barred by the FDCPA’s one-year statute of limitations.35

Freyermuth appealed the district court’s grant of summary judg-
ment to the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit.36

Freyermuth argued his claim was not barred by the statute of limita-
tions because Checkmate sent the follow-up notices on May 6, 1998,
and the action was filed on May 5, 1999.37  The Eighth Circuit recog-
nized that the FDCPA prohibited creditors from using deceptive or
misleading practices to collect debt; however, the court asserted that a
violation of the FDCPA occurs the date an initial collection notice is
sent.38  Accordingly, the court determined Freyermuth’s action was
barred because Checkmate had sent the last initial notice more than
one year before Freyermuth filed the action.39

Although the Eighth Circuit determined that Freyermuth’s
claims were barred by the FDCPA’s one-year statute of limitations,
the court addressed the merits of Freyermuth’s claims.40  In regards
to Freyermuth’s first claim, the court recognized that § 1692f(1) of the
FDCPA prohibited debt collectors from imposing service charges un-
less such charges were expressly authorized under agreements creat-
ing debt or permitted under state law.41  The court found that service
charges were not authorized under the agreement between
Checkmate and Freyermuth, but Nebraska law authorized incidental
damages resulting from a buyer’s breach.42  The court concluded that

32. Id. at 767, 769.
33. Id. at 770.
34. Id.
35. Id.
36. Id. at 769.
37. Id. at 769-70.
38. Id. The court recognized that the date of a FDCPA violation occurs on the date

a letter is sent to a debtor. Id. (citing Mattson v. U.S. W. Commc’ns, Inc., 967 F.2d 259,
261 (8th Cir. 1997)).

39. Id. The court acknowledged that Checkmate sent the initial notice for the last
returned check on April 10, 1998, and that Freyermuth’s action was filed on May 5,
1999. Id.

40. Id. The Eighth Circuit determined that even if Freyermuth’s claim was not
barred by the FDCPA’s statute of limitations, it would still fail on the merits because it
was not a violation to attempt to collect service fees or time-barred debt. Id.

41. Id.
42. See id. (citing NEB. REV. STAT. § 2-710 (1963), as the applicable state law that

allowed sellers to seek incidental damages in the event of buyers’ breach).
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incidental damages included commercially reasonable charges, so Ne-
braska law allowed Checkmate to impose service charges and the
FDCPA did not prohibit the inclusion of those charges.43

In addressing Freyermuth’s second claim, the court narrowed its
focus to a portion of the FDCPA that prohibits creditors from threat-
ening impermissible legal action.44  The court noted the standard for
determining whether debt collection practices violate the FDCPA is to
view creditors’ communications through the eyes of the unsophistica-
ted consumer.45  The Eighth Circuit acknowledged several cases
where creditors allegedly violated the FDCPA by attempting to collect
time-barred debts.46  In those cases, the court determined the focus
was on whether the debt collectors had threatened to file, or filed, liti-
gation in order to find a violation of the FDCPA.47  The court then
recognized that Checkmate did not take or threaten legal action in its
collection letters to Freyermuth.48  Accordingly, the court determined
that Checkmate did not violate the FDCPA when attempting to collect
time-barred debt, and affirmed the district court’s grant of summary
judgment.49  The Eighth Circuit held that a creditor does not violate
the FDCPA if it does not take or threaten legal action.50

43. See id. at 770-71 (citing NEB. REV. STAT. § 2-707(1), to find that Checkmate fit
the definition of a seller because it was responsible for the price of goods on behalf of the
merchants that referred the returned checks to it).

44. Id.  The court recognized that the issue of time-barred debt collection as a viola-
tion of the FDCPA was a question of first impression in the Eighth Circuit. Id.

45. Id. at 771.  The court cited a previous Eighth Circuit case to determine that the
unsophisticated consumer standard is to be used when evaluating collection letters. Id.
(citing Duffy v. Landberg, 215 F.3d 871, 783 (8th Cir. 2000)).

46. Id.  The Eighth Circuit cited several district court cases to support its conten-
tion that legal action must be threatened or taken to find that a creditor violated the
FDCPA. Id. (citing Shorty v. Capital One Bank, 90 F. Supp. 2d 1330, 1332 (D.N.M.
2000); Johnson v. Capital One, No. Civ.A. SA00CA315EP, 2000 WL 1279661, at *1
(W.D. Tex., May 19, 2000); Beattie v. D.M. Collections, Inc., 754 F. Supp. 383, 393 (D.
Del. 1991)).

47. Id.
48. Id.  The court acknowledged that a single court had found a violation of the

FDCPA where the creditor promised no further collection action and that an implied
threat was not conveyed in Checkmate’s collection letter. Id. (referencing Stepney v.
Outsourcing Sols., Inc., No. 97 C 5288, 1997 WL 722972 (N.D. Ill. Nov. 13, 1997)).

49. Id. The Eighth Circuit did not provide any further analysis after citing several
district court cases as its support, noting that Checkmate did not violate the FDCPA
because it did not take or threaten legal action. Id.

50. Id. The United States Court of Appeals for the Third Circuit has followed the
Eighth Circuit’s holding in Freyermuth. See Huertas v. Galaxy Asset Mgmt., 641 F.3d
28, 32-33 (3d Cir. 2011) (recognizing that the FDCPA prohibits the false representation
of the legal status of debt, but concluding that a violation of the FDCPA turns on
whether a creditor threatened impermissible legal action).
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III. BACKGROUND

A. CONGRESS INTENDED THE FDCPA TO PROVIDE PROTECTION FOR

CONSUMERS FROM WIDESPREAD DEBT COLLECTION ABUSE

Congress enacted the FDCPA in response to growing concerns re-
garding abusive collection practices employed by third-party debt col-
lectors.51  The Senate Committee on Banking, Housing, and Urban
Affairs submitted a report to the Senate addressing the widespread
extent and detrimental effects of abusive debt collection practices on
consumers.52  The report accompanied House of Representatives Bill
5924, which sought to amend the Consumer Credit Protection Act53 to
prohibit creditors’ use of abusive debt collection practices.54  The re-
port outlined the purpose of the FDCPA, addressed the need for the
legislation, and provided an explanation of the legislation.55  After
considering the proposed legislation and supporting committee report,
Congress enacted the FDCPA in September, 1977.56

The Banking, Housing, and Urban Affairs Committee stated the
FDCPA’s purpose was to protect consumers from a range of unfair and
deceptive collection practices without unnecessarily restricting ethical
debt collectors.57  The report identified third-party debt collection as a
substantial and growing business contributing to the widespread use
of abusive collection practices.58  Debt collectors were using several
forms of abusive practices, including the misrepresentation of consum-
ers’ legal rights.59  The widespread use of various abusive debt collec-
tion practices affected the lives of many consumers.60  At the time of
the report, there were over five thousand collection agencies spread
across the United States.61  A trade association representing about
one-half of the independent collectors stated that during 1976, the

51. See S. REP. NO. 95-382, at 2 (1977) (recognizing the use of abusive debt collec-
tion practices as a serious national problem).

52. Id. at 1.
53. Pub. L. No. 90-321, 82 Stat. 146 (1968) (codified as amended at various §§ of 15

U.S.C.).
54. S. REP. NO. 95-382, at 1.  The committee was referred H.R. 5294 and held hear-

ings on the bill in May 1977. Id.  The committee held markup sessions in June and July
and provided the report to the Senate in August. Id.

55. Id. at 1-6.
56. Pub. L. No. 95-109, 91 Stat. 874 (1977).
57. S. REP. 95-382, at 1-2.
58. Id. at 2.
59. Id.  The committee also recognized other abusive practices such as the use of

profane language, violent threats, disclosure of debtor’s personal information, use of
false pretenses to obtain consumer information, the impersonation of attorneys and offi-
cials, and the simulation of legal process. Id.

60. Id.  Collection agencies across the country cumulatively collected more than
five billion dollars in debts in 1976. Id.

61. Id.
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year prior to the report, agencies had contacted eight million consum-
ers.62  The report also asserted that a lack of meaningful state legisla-
tion had contributed to increasing debt collection abuse.63  The
committee reported that there were thirteen states without debt col-
lection laws and eleven states with little or ineffective legislation,
leaving about forty percent of the population without adequate protec-
tion from abusive debt collection.64  Without adequate state laws, debt
collection abuses had become a national problem requiring federal leg-
islation to protect consumers.65

The committee recognized the scope of the FDCPA as limited to
the protection of consumers’ personal, family, or household debts.66

The report addressed the FDCPA’s express prohibition of several de-
ceptive and unfair debt collection practices, including the misrepre-
sentation of consumers’ legal rights.67  The FDCPA also generally
prohibited any unfair or deceptive collection practices.68  The commit-
tee noted that the general prohibition would enable courts to proscribe
improper conduct the FDCPA did not specifically address.69  The com-
mittee described the FDCPA as a self-executing law that required con-
sumers who had experienced debt collection abuses to enforce
compliance through filing civil actions.70

B. THE UNSOPHISTICATED CONSUMER STANDARD AS A GUIDELINE TO

DETERMINE WHETHER DEBT COLLECTION PRACTICES WERE

PROHIBITED BY THE FDCPA

The unsophisticated consumer standard is used by courts to eval-
uate whether consumers could be misled or deceived by debt collection

62. Id.
63. Id.  The report highlighted that debt collection agencies had existed for de-

cades, but there were still forty million citizens living in states without legislation to
protect them. Id.

64. Id.  The committee acknowledged that out of the thirty-seven states with debt
collection regulation, only a small number of those states had comprehensive statutes
providing a civil remedy. Id.

65. Id. at 2-3.  The committee found that in addition to the lack of adequate state
legislation, creditors’ use of wide area telephone service lines increased interstate collec-
tions and state officials were unable to act against collectors using abusive practices
from another state. Id.

66. Id. at 3.  The report stated that the FDCPA did not apply to commercial ac-
count debt collection. Id.

67. Id. at 4.  The FDCPA also expressly prohibited the use of threats of violence,
profane language, harassing phone calls, collection of more than owed, the impersona-
tion of attorneys or public officials, publications of consumers names, use of false pre-
tenses to obtain consumer information, and the simulation of legal process. Id.

68. Id.
69. Id.
70. Id. at 5.  Debt collectors that have violated the FDCPA are liable for actual

damages and additional damages assessed by the court. Id.  Courts are to consider the
nature of the violation in the assessment of additional damages. Id.
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letters in violation of the FDCPA.71  The standard requires the court
to view debt collection letters through the eyes of unsophisticated con-
sumers.72  The United States Courts of Appeal for the Fifth, Sixth,
Seventh, and Eighth Circuits  each employ an unsophisticated con-
sumer standard when addressing issues of false or misleading repre-
sentations in debt collection.73  The FDCPA’s purpose is to protect
consumers from abusive debt collection practices, so it is necessary for
courts to look at debt collection attempts from unsophisticated con-
sumers’ perspectives to determine if consumers could be misled by
those attempts.74  A consumer that is well-versed in debt collection
law would not be at risk of deceit by misleading debt collection prac-
tices.75  However, the purpose of the FDCPA is to protect vulnerable
consumers affected by debt collectors’ false or misleading representa-
tions.76  By evaluating debt collection attempts from the perspectives
of unsophisticated consumers, courts can determine if collection let-
ters constitute the kind of false or misleading representations that the
FDCPA prohibits.77

71. McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC, 744 F.3d 1010, 1019 (7th Cir. 2014).  The
United States Court of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit acknowledged that determining
whether a representation made by a debt collector is misleading required the court to
ask whether a consumer with limited commercial knowledge would be deceived. Id.  The
court also recognized that whether a collection letter is misleading is a question of fact
and a claim can only be dismissed if it is obvious that it would not mislead even a
significant number of consumers. Id. at 1019-20.

72. Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Servs., 248 F.3d 767, 771 (8th Cir. 2001).
73. Daugherty v. Convergent Outsourcing, Inc., 836 F.3d 507, 511 (5th Cir. 2016);

Buchanan v. Northland Grp., 776 F.3d 393, 396 (6th Cir. 2015); McMahon, 744 F.3d at
1020; Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771.

74. See Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 396 (recognizing that the FDCPA protects all con-
sumers, including those that are gullible, from practices that would deceive unsophisti-
cated consumers); see also McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (acknowledging the distinction
between what is confusing for a judge and an unsophisticated consumer is important
because the consumers that receive the collection letters have varying abilities).

75. See McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (distinguishing between what legally sophisti-
cated readers understand from what unsophisticated consumers understand and what
may confuse them).

76. S. REP. 95-382, at 1-2.
77. See Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (recognizing that previous case law focused on

debt collectors’ actions and whether unsophisticated consumers would be misled or
deceived by them); see also McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (determining that dismissal of a
claim is not appropriate unless it is apparent that a significant fraction of consumers
would not be misled by a collection letter).
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C. MCMAHON V. LVNV FUNDING, LLC: THE SEVENTH CIRCUIT

EMPHASIZES THAT A DEBT COLLECTOR COULD VIOLATE THE

FDCPA IN ATTEMPTS TO COLLECT TIME-BARRED DEBT WITHOUT

THREATENING OR TAKING LEGAL ACTION

In McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC,78 the United States Court
of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit addressed how creditor’s attempts
to collect time-barred debt may violate the FDCPA by deceiving con-
sumers.79  In McMahon, Scott McMahon received a letter from a col-
lection agency retained by LVNV Funding, LLC (“LVNV”) in 2011
concerning a debt to a utility company from 1997.80  The letter McMa-
hon received listed the immediate creditor, LVNV, the original credi-
tor, Nicor Gas, and the total amount due.81  The letter also contained
an offer to settle McMahon’s account in full with a partial payment,
but did not disclose that Illinois’s four-year statute of limitations had
expired.82  In response, McMahon requested verification and was pro-
vided with information about the original creditor and the date LVNV
acquired the debt.83  A month later, McMahon filed suit as an individ-
ual and a member of a class, alleging LVNV had violated the
FDCPA.84

The United States District Court for the Northern District of Illi-
nois dismissed McMahon’s class action but did not dismiss McMahon’s
individual claims.85  LVNV offered to settle McMahon’s individual
claim, but McMahon failed to respond to the offer.86  The district court
dismissed McMahon’s claim because the settlement offer provided
complete recovery, rendering his claim moot.87  McMahon appealed
the district court’s decision to the Seventh Circuit, asserting that the
district court erred in dismissing both his individual and class
claims.88

78. 744 F.3d 1010 (7th Cir. 2014).
79. See McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC, 744 F.3d 1010, 1019 (7th Cir. 2014)

(acknowledging multiple portions of the FDCPA that prohibit various deceptive
practices).

80. McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1013.  Scott McMahon received a bill from Nicor Gas in
1997 and did not pay the bill. Id.  LVNV purchased the debt from Nicor in 2011 and
hired the collection agency Tate & Kirlin to pursue payment from McMahon. Id.

81. Id.
82. Id.
83. Id.  The court acknowledged that the response was provided by Resurgent, an

affiliate of LVNV, and that the details regarding the age of the debt were still not pro-
vided. Id.

84. Id.
85. Id.  The district court dismissed McMahon’s class action claim for want of class

certification but granted leave to amend the class complaint. Id.
86. Id. at 1013-14.
87. Id. at 1014.
88. Id.
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The Seventh Circuit recognized that the FDCPA prohibited credi-
tors’ use of misleading representations to collect debt.89  The court ac-
knowledged that creditors’ threats to take impermissible legal action
and false representations of the character or legal status of a debt
were prohibited by §§ 1692e(2)(A) and 1692e(5) of the FDCPA.90  The
court applied the unsophisticated consumer standard to determine
whether the collection letters were misleading in the eyes of an unso-
phisticated consumer.91  The court noted that the collection letters
McMahon received did not disclose that the debt was legally unen-
forceable, and used the term settle.92

The Seventh Circuit opined that LVNV’s use of settlement lan-
guage could lead a consumer to believe that the debt was legally en-
forceable.93  In evaluating the letter McMahon received, the court
relied upon Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”) and Consumer Finan-
cial Protection Bureau (“CFPB”) research, which suggested consumers
do not understand their rights regarding time-barred debt.94  The
court recognized that the FTC’s and CFBP’s research did not support
LVNV’s contention that the term settle was not misleading in this con-
text.95  The Seventh Circuit further reasoned that if consumers
searched Google to determine the meaning of the term settlement,
they could be led to a Wikipedia page describing the use of that term
in a civil lawsuit.96  Relying upon its unsophisticated consumer evalu-
ation and the findings of the FTC and CFPB, the court concluded that
a consumer could be misled by creditors’ attempt to collect time-
barred debt, particularly when a creditor uses settlement language in
a collection letter.97

The Seventh Circuit addressed Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Ser-
vices,98 and suggested that the United States Court of Appeals for the

89. Id. at 1019.
90. Id.; 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.
91. McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1019-20.
92. Id. at 1022.  The Seventh Circuit acknowledged the risk that an offer to settle a

time-barred debt may lead debtors to believe that a creditor could sue on that debt. Id.
93. See id. (“If unsophisticated consumers believe . . . that the settlement offer is

their chance to avoid court proceedings . . . they have been misled, and the debt collector
has violated the FDCPA.”).

94. Id. at 1021.
95. Id.  LVNV relied on Rice v. Midland Credit Mgmt., Inc., 933 F. Supp. 2d 1040

(N.D. Ill. 2d), 2013, to argue that a consumer could not be misled by letters which truth-
fully state that payment would settle an account. Id.  The court found LVNV’s reliance
on this case to be contrary to the agencies’ findings that most consumers did not under-
stand legal rights regarding time-barred debt. Id.

96. Id.  The Seventh Circuit supported its deference to the FTC’s and CFPB’s em-
pirical research by acknowledging that a search of the term settlement would lead con-
sumers to a definition that includes its use in a lawsuit. Id.

97. Id. at 1022.
98. 248 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2001).
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Eighth Circuit’s analysis was not reasonable.99  The Seventh Circuit
determined that the plain language of the FDCPA did not support the
Eighth Circuit’s conclusion.100  The court reasoned that FDCPA pro-
hibits both the threat to take impermissible legal action and false or
misleading representation regarding the character or legal status of
debt.101  The Seventh Circuit concluded that a collection letter need
not threaten legal action to mislead a consumer.102

D. BUCHANAN V. NORTHLAND GROUP: THE  SIXTH CIRCUIT

DETERMINED THAT A COLLECTION LETTER OFFERING A

SETTLEMENT AND INVITING PARTIAL PAYMENT OF TIME-BARRED

DEBT COULD VIOLATE THE FDCPA WITHOUT THREATENING

LEGAL ACTION

In Buchanan v. Northland Group,103 the United States Court of
Appeals for the Sixth Circuit addressed whether collection letters can
mislead consumers by not disclosing that the debt is time-barred.104

In Buchanan, Esther Buchanan received a collection letter from Nor-
thland Group that offered to settle her account in full for a partial
payment.105  The collection letter did not disclose that the six-year
statute of limitations in Michigan had expired or that a partial pay-
ment would restart the statute of limitations.106  Buchanan filed suit
in the United States District Court for the Western District of Michi-
gan alleging that Northland Group violated the FDCPA by sending a
collection letter that falsely implied that the debt was legally enforcea-
ble.107  Northland Group moved to dismiss, and Buchanan responded
that the misleading nature of the collection letter was a question of

99. McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020-21.  The Seventh Circuit noted that under the
Eighth Circuit’s reasoning in Freyermuth, it would not be a violation of the FDCPA for a
creditor to falsely assert a right to sue, so long as the creditor pledges not to. Id. See
Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (recognizing that Checkmate did not take or threaten legal
action and, therefore, did not violate the FDCPA when attempting to collect time-barred
debt).

100. Id. at 1020. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A)  states:
A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representation
or means in connection with the collection of any debt. Without limiting the
general application of the foregoing, the following conduct is a violation of this
section: . . . (2) The false representation of—(A) the character, amount, or legal
status of any debt.

15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A).
101. McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020-21.
102. Id. at 1022.
103. 776 F.3d 393 (6th Cir. 2015).
104. Buchanan v. Northland Grp., 776 F.3d 393, 399-400 (6th Cir. 2015).
105. Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 395.  The collection letter Buchanan received referenced

the original creditor, the total balance of $4768.43, and offered to settle the debt for a
partial payment of $1668.96. Id.

106. Id. at 396.
107. Id.
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fact.108  The district court denied Buchanan’s request for discovery
and granted Northland Group’s motion to dismiss.109  Buchanan ap-
pealed the district court’s decision to the Sixth Circuit.110

The Sixth Circuit recognized that the FDCPA prohibits the use of
deceptive debt collection practices and identified § 1692e(2)(A), which
prohibits false or misleading representations of the legal status of
debt, as an operative statute.111  The court acknowledged that under
Michigan law, a debt existed even after becoming time-barred, so it
was acceptable for creditors to inform debtors that their debts re-
mained unpaid.112  The Sixth Circuit noted that although the debt re-
mained debt after the statute of limitations expired, it disagreed that
Buchanan’s suit should be dismissed.113

Buchanan provided expert testimony regarding consumers’ un-
derstanding of time-barred debt.114  The court recognized that there
are studies establishing that consumers can be misled by attempts to
collect time-barred debt even without an expressed or implied threat
of legal action.115  To determine whether Buchanan’s collection letter
was misleading, the court examined the formal and informal defini-
tions of terms and phrases in the letter, such as settlement agree-
ment.116  The court also acknowledged the potential harm of partial
payments restarting statute of limitations for time-barred debt.117  An
evaluation of these issues led the court to determine that consumers
could be misled when creditors use settlement offers and omit the
debt’s age.118

108. Id. The court noted Buchanan’s emphasis on the proposed testimony of a psy-
chologist regarding consumers’ understanding of collection letters and time-barred debt.
Id.

109. Id.
110. Id.
111. Id.  The court recognized that the use of the term “misleading” in the FDCPA

suggests that even a true statement could be prohibited if it fostered a misleading im-
pression. Id.

112. Id. at 396-97.
113. Id. at 397.  The court noted three reasons as to why Buchanan’s claim should

not be dismissed as a matter of law: (1) the question of whether a letter is misleading is
a question of fact; (2) Buchanan submitted evidence that supported her claim; and (3)
Buchanan offered a consumer deception theory that is plausible. Id. at 397-98.

114. Id. at 397.
115. Id. at 398.  The court referenced the FTC and CFPB research in progress and

the CFPB’s finding that consumers could be misled by collection attempts and believe
debt is legally enforceable even without threats of litigation. Id.

116. Id. at 399.  The Sixth Circuit acknowledged several similar definitions of the
term settlement agreement in multiple dictionaries, Wiktionary, and Black’s Law Dic-
tionary. Id.  The court determined all the definitions it reviewed supported the plausi-
bility of Buchanan’s claim that the letter implied the debt was legally enforceable. Id.

117. Id.
118. Id.
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The Sixth Circuit reasoned that its decision did not conflict with
the holding in Freyermuth because the Eighth Circuit did not address
the harms of partial payment.119  The court also distinguished its
opinion from Freyermuth because Freyermuth did not receive a settle-
ment.120  The court explained that its opinion differed from
Freyermuth because the Eighth Circuit’s holding focused solely on the
threat of litigation and did not address the possibility that consumers
could be misled about the enforceability of debt and the harms of par-
tial payment.121  In acknowledging the differences between its deci-
sion and the holding in Freyermuth, the Sixth Circuit found that it
was plausible for a consumer to be misled by creditors’ use of settle-
ment offers.122  The court reversed the district court’s decision and re-
manded the action for further proceedings.123

E. DAUGHERTY V. CONVERGENT OUTSOURCING, INC.: THE FIFTH

CIRCUIT CONCLUDED CREDITORS VIOLATED THE FDCPA BY

MISLEADING CONSUMERS THROUGH SETTLEMENT OFFERS AND

NONDISCLOSURE OF THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

In Daugherty v. Convergent Outsourcing, Inc.,124 the United
States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit addressed whether credi-
tors can violate the FDCPA by attempting to collect time-barred debt
by using discounted settlement.125  In Daugherty, Roxanne Daugherty
received a letter from Convergent Outsourcing, Inc. (“Convergent”) of-
fering to settle her account in full for a partial payment of her past due
balance.126  The letter was sent in January 2014 and referenced credit
card debt that had significantly increased over the course of several
years.127  The letter did not acknowledge that the statute of limita-
tions had expired.128  In  November 2014, Daugherty filed a claim in

119. Id. at 399-400. See Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (acknowledging several district
court opinions that focus on the threat of or taking legal action to find a violation of the
FDCPA).

120. Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 400.
121. Id. at 400-01.  The Sixth Circuit further distinguished its opinion from

Freyermuth by highlighting the Seventh Circuit, in McMahon, as the only other circuit
to reach the issue of settlement offers misleading consumers about the legal enforceabil-
ity of debt. Id. at 401.

122. Id. at 399.
123. Id. at 400.
124. 836 F.3d 507 (5th Cir. 2016).
125. Daugherty v. Convergent Outsourcing, Inc., 836 F.3d 507, 513 (5th Cir. 2016).
126. Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 509.  The notice disclosed the total past due credit card

debt of $32,405.91 and acknowledged the current creditor, LVNV Funding, LLC, was
willing to settle the debt for a ten percent payment of the total balance due. Id.

127. Id.  Daugherty’s debt had increased from $12,824.24 to $32,405.91. Id.
128. Id. The letter Daugherty received only provided information about her past

due balance and a settlement offer for a ten percent payment if she responded within
sixty days. Id.
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the United States District Court for the Southern District of Texas
alleging Convergent violated the FDCPA by using misleading repre-
sentations in attempting to collect time-barred debt.129  Daugherty as-
serted Convergent violated the FDCPA because the letter did not
disclose that the statute of limitations had passed and that a partial
payment would reinstate the entire debt.130  The district court
granted Convergent’s motion to dismiss, determining that creditors’
attempts to collect time-barred debt were not a violation of the
FDCPA so long as legal action is not threatened or taken.131  Daugh-
erty then appealed the district court’s decision to the Fifth Circuit.132

The Fifth Circuit recognized § 1692e(2)(A) as the applicable provi-
sion of the FDCPA, which prohibits the false representation of the
character or legal status of debt.133  The court applied the unsophisti-
cated consumer standard to analyze the collection letter from the per-
spective of a consumer lacking experience with creditors.134  The court
cited a conflict in the circuits about collection letters offering to settle
time-barred debt when legal action is not threatened or taken.135  The
court determined that the United States Court of Appeals for the Sev-
enth Circuit’s decision in McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC136 and the
United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth Circuit’s decision in
Buchanan v. Northland Group137 were persuasive.138  The court rec-
ognized that a collection letter could violate the FDCPA when it fails

129. Id. at 510.
130. Id.
131. See id. (relying on Freyermuth to determine that the FDCPA allowed a collector

to seek voluntary repayment of time-barred debt); see also Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau
Servs., 248 F.3d 767, 771 (8th Cir. 2001) (recognizing that the statute of limitations only
limits judicial remedies but does not eliminate the debt).

132. Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 510.
133. Id. at 511.  The court acknowledged that § 1692e(5) of the FDCPA prohibits

threatening to take impermissible legal action. Id.; 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.
134. Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511.
135. Id. (citing Huertas v. Galaxy Asset Mgmt., 641 F.3d 28 (3d Cir. 2011) and

Freyermuth, 248 F.3d 767).  The court recognized that the United States Courts of Ap-
peals for the Third and Eighth Circuits have determined that a creditor must threaten
or take legal action to violate the FDCPA when attempting to collect time-barred debt.
Id. The court also noted the United States Courts of Appeal for the Sixth and Seventh
Circuits have determined collection letters that do not disclose the status of debt as
time-barred can violate the FDCPA. Id. (citing Buchanan v. Northland Grp., 776 F.3d
393 (6th Cir. 2015) and McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC, 744 F.3d 1010 (7th Cir.
2014)).

136. 744 F.3d 1010 (7th Cir. 2014).
137. 776 F.3d 393 (6th Cir. 2015).
138. Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511. See McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (recognizing that

if a creditor uses language that would mislead a consumer regarding the legal status of
debt, then the creditor has violated the FDCPA); see also Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 399
(acknowledging that a letter that uses the term “settlement offer” could mislead con-
sumers about the legal enforceability of that debt).
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to disclose that a debt is time-barred, even without the threat of
litigation.139

The court reasoned the lack of consumer knowledge regarding le-
gal rights and harms caused by partial payments made the collection
letters offering to settle debt sufficiently misleading.140  To the court,
failure to disclose judicial unenforceability, coupled with an offer to
settle debt, was tantamount to misleading consumers about the char-
acter or legal status of debt.141  Finally, the court concluded that
Daugherty’s claim was facially plausible because a consumer could be
misled by Convergent’s collection letter.142

IV. ANALYSIS

In Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Services,143 the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit incorrectly interpreted the
protections of the FDCPA as applied to collection of time-barred
debt.144  In Freyermuth, Troy Freyermuth sued Credit Bureau Ser-
vices alleging that Credit Bureau Services’s attempts to collect time-
barred debt violated the FDCPA.145  Freyermuth received multiple
collection notices informing him that he had an outstanding balance
that was due to various merchants.146  The collection letters informed
Freyermuth that his outstanding balance included the principal and
service charges.147  The United States District Court for the District of
Nebraska granted summary judgment in favor of Credit Bureau Ser-
vices, doing business as Checkmate of Fremont (“Checkmate”).148  The
Eighth Circuit focused on the portion of the FDCPA that addressed
creditors’ threats to take impermissible legal action and found that
Checkmate had not threatened to take legal action in its collection
letters to Freyermuth.149  The Eighth Circuit acknowledged that the

139. Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511.
140. Id. at 513.
141. Id.
142. Id.  The court emphasized that the letter contained a settlement offer, but did

not disclose that the debt was time-barred and that a partial payment could revive the
statute of limitations. Id.

143. 248 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2001).
144. Compare Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Servs., 248 F.3d 767, 771 (8th Cir.

2001) (recognizing that a creditor does not violate the FDCPA when attempting to col-
lect time-barred debt if legal action is not threatened or taken), with McMahon v. LVNV
Funding LLC, 744 F.3d 1010, 1021 (7th Cir. 2014) (acknowledging that the plain lan-
guage of the FDCPA also prohibits the use of misleading representations about the legal
status of debt and that a creditor could violate the FDCPA when attempting to collect
time-barred debt without threatening or taking legal action).

145. Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 769.
146. Brief & Addendum of Appellant, supra note 24.
147. Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 769.
148. Id.
149. Id. at 770-71.
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statute of limitations barred Freyermuth’s FDCPA claim, but still ad-
dressed the merits of the claim.150  The court affirmed the district
court’s grant of summary judgment because Checkmate did not
threaten legal action.151

First, this Analysis will argue that the Eighth Circuit’s interpre-
tation failed to effectuate the purpose Congress intended the FDCPA
to serve because it suggested that creditors could use prohibited debt
collection practices.152  This Analysis will then address the court’s in-
adequate application of the unsophisticated consumer standard to de-
termine if Checkmate’s debt collection attempts were misleading or
deceiving.153  Finally, this Analysis will show that the Eighth Cir-
cuit’s interpretation was incorrect because the court did not address
§ 1692e(2)(A), which focuses on the legal status of debt.154

A. THE EIGHTH CIRCUIT FAILED TO EFFECTUATE THE PURPOSE

CONGRESS INTENDED THE FDCPA TO SERVE BY INCORRECTLY

INTERPRETING THE PROTECTIONS AFFORDED TO CONSUMERS

UNDER THE FDCPA

The goal of the FDCPA is to stop debt collectors from using abu-
sive, misleading, and unfair methods to collect debt from vulnerable
consumers.155  Section 1692e of the FDCPA prohibits deceptive collec-
tion practices that mislead consumers about their rights.156  In
Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Services,157 the Eighth Circuit deter-
mined that attempts to collect time-barred debt did not violate the

150. Id. at 770.  The Eighth Circuit acknowledged the FDCPA’s one-year statute of
limitations begins on the day a collection letter is sent. Id.

151. See id. at 771 (acknowledging that several cases have focused on the threat of
legal action to find a violation of the FDCPA and reasoning that the statute of limita-
tions for debt only limits the judicial remedies available to a creditor, but did not elimi-
nate the debt itself).

152. See infra notes 155-171 and accompanying text.
153. See infra notes 172-186 and accompanying text.
154. See infra notes 187-203 and accompanying text.
155. S. REP. 95-382, at 1.  The legislative intent provided by Senate Report 382

states the FDCPA’s “purpose is to protect consumers from a host of unfair, harassing,
and deceptive debt collection practices . . . .” Id. See Buchanan v. Northland Grp., 776
F.3d 393, 396 (6th Cir. 2015) (acknowledging the FDCPA’s range of prohibited debt col-
lection practices to protect consumers); see also Daugherty v. Convergent Outsourcing,
Inc., 836 F.3d 507, 511 (5th Cir. 2016) (recognizing the nonexclusive list of prohibited
debt collection practices and determining the FDCPA has a broad remedial scope); Mc-
Mahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC, 744 F.3d 1010, 1020 (7th Cir. 2014) (noting confusing
language is prohibited under the FDCPA because of risks to consumers and recognizing
the use of abusive debt collection practices as a serious national problem).

156. See 15 U.S.C. § 1692e (prohibiting false and misleading debt collection protec-
tion practices); see also Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 399 (acknowledging that consumers are
exposed to a substantial risk when partial payments restart the statute of limitations).

157. 248 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2001).
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FDCPA if impermissible legal action is not threatened.158  The court’s
determination failed to further Congress’s goal of protecting vulnera-
ble consumers.159  The Eighth Circuit’s holding suggests that consum-
ers could not be deceived about the legal enforceability of time-barred
debt if the language used does not expressly threaten litigation.160

The FDCPA specifically targets abusive debt collection practices, in-
cluding misrepresentations about the legal status of debt.161  By ig-
noring the range of protections provided, the court failed to effectuate
the goal of the FDCPA when evaluating Checkmate’s collection
attempts.162

Congress intended the FDCPA to provide broad protection for
consumers from abusive debt collection practices.  Congress enacted
the FDCPA because of creditors’ increasing use of unfair and decep-
tive practices in collecting debt.163  Misleading debt collection prac-
tices were recognized as a national problem because states did not
have adequate legislation in place to effectively protect consumers

158. Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Servs., 248 F.3d 767, 771 (8th Cir. 2001).
159. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (limiting the analysis of Checkmate’s

collection attempts to threats to take impermissible legal action), with McMahon, 744
F.3d at 1021 (recognizing that the FDCPA also prohibits debt collection practices that
mislead consumers about the legal status of their debt and not merely threatening im-
permissible legal action), and S. REP. 95-382, at 3 (noting that the FDCPA also gener-
ally prohibited any false or misleading representations to enable courts to proscribe
additional improper conduct).

160. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (holding that when impermissible legal
action is not threatened, creditors have not violated the FDCPA), with McMahon, 744
F.3d at 1020-21 (acknowledging that under the Eighth Circuit’s interpretation, a debt
collector could make a false representation about the legal status of debt and not violate
the FDCPA).

161. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.
162. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 770 (stating that a creditor violates the

FDCPA when threatening to take impermissible legal action), with Daugherty, 836 F.3d
at 511 (determining that Congress intended the FDCPA to be construed broadly, in
favor of the consumer, and have a broad remedial scope), McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1021
(determining the plain language of the FDCPA prohibits deceptive practices beyond the
threat to take impermissible legal action), and S. REP. 95-382, at 4 (recognizing that the
proposed FDCPA legislation expressly prohibited several deceptive debt collection prac-
tices, but generally prohibited any unfair debt collection practices to enable the court to
proscribe additional improper conduct).

163. See S. REP. 95-382, at 4 (determining the FDCPA expressly prohibited several
unfair debt collection practices and generally prohibited the use of any misleading debt
collection practices to enable the courts to proscribe other abusive conduct); see also
Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511 (recognizing that Congress intended the FDCPA to provide
broad protection because the FDCPA included a general prohibition of the use of any
unfair debt collection practices); Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 398 (asserting that a collection
letter that informs consumers about a creditor’s right to sue is a violation of the FDCPA
as a misrepresentation of the character or legal status of debt); McMahon, 744 F.3d at
1021 (acknowledging that the plain language of the FDCPA prohibited the use of any
misleading representation, including the misrepresentation of the legal status of debt in
the collection of time-barred debt).
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from emerging interstate debt collection.164  When Congress consid-
ered the proposed FDCPA legislation, nearly forty percent of the popu-
lation did not have meaningful protection from abusive debt collection
practices.165  Congress intended the FDCPA to provide protection for
consumers from abusive debt collection because debt collection had be-
come a substantial business affecting the lives of many citizens.166  To
remedy the problems of debt collection abuse, the proposed FDCPA
legislation expressly prohibited several unfair practices such as
threats of violence, harassing telephone calls, misrepresenting con-
sumers’ legal rights, collecting more than was legally owed, and simu-
lating court process.167  Congress also viewed the FDCPA’s general
prohibition against all unfair and deceptive practices as a tool to en-
able courts to proscribe additional deceptive debt collection practices
that were not expressly prohibited.168

By focusing on express threats of litigation, the Eighth Circuit
disregarded other language that could confuse consumers about the
legal status of debt.169  The court’s disregard for other misleading col-
lection practices misinterpreted the extent of the protections afforded
to consumers under the FDCPA.170  The Eighth Circuit’s opinion
leaves consumers without a means to hold creditors accountable for
the use of deceptive language in collecting time-barred debt.171

164. S. REP. 95-382, at 2.  When the FDCPA legislation was proposed, there were
thirteen states that did not have debt collection laws. Id.

165. See id. (noting the use of WATS lines as the reason for the dramatic increase in
creditors’ interstate collections).

166. Id. The committee asserted that the FDCPA was necessary because debt col-
lection abuses had become widespread and serious. Id. at 3.

167. Id. at 2.
168. Compare id. at 4 (listing several prohibited practices that were being used by

creditors at the time the FDCPA was proposed and recognizing the general prohibition
against any unfair debt collection practices would enable the court to proscribe other
improper conduct that is not specifically addressed), with Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771
(acknowledging the FDCPA generally prohibited all unfair and misleading debt collec-
tion practices, but narrowing the focus to whether Checkmate violated the express pro-
hibition of threatening impermissible legal action).

169. See Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 396 (acknowledging the FDCPA’s range of prohib-
ited debt collection practices to protect consumers); see also Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511
(determining the FDCPA has a broad remedial scope); McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (rec-
ognizing the possibility that language, like settle and settlement offer, used by debt
collectors could confuse consumers about the legal status of debt).

170. See Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511 (determining that a debt collector’s use of the
phrase “settlement offer” violated the FDCPA because it was sufficiently misleading);
see also McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1022 (acknowledging that language could lead an unso-
phisticated consumer to believe debt is legally enforceable).

171. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (concluding that when no legal action is
taken or threatened, it is not a violation of the FDCPA for creditors to attempt to collect
time-barred debt), with McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1021 (asserting that when an analysis
focuses only on threats of litigation, creditors would not be held accountable for other
abusive practices).
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B. BY FAILING TO ADEQUATELY APPLY THE UNSOPHISTICATED

CONSUMER STANDARD, THE EIGHTH CIRCUIT INCORRECTLY

INTERPRETED THE PROTECTIONS AFFORDED BY THE FDCPA

In Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Services,172 the Eighth Circuit
failed to adequately apply the standard used in evaluating creditors’
collection practices.173  The unsophisticated consumer standard aids
courts in interpreting whether debt collection practices violate the
FDCPA.174  This standard required the Eighth Circuit to evaluate
creditors’ collection attempts through the eyes of an unsophisticated
consumer to determine if creditors’ practices were misleading.175  The
court acknowledged that the unsophisticated consumer standard was
the appropriate standard, but failed to fully apply the standard to
Checkmate’s collection letters.176  The unsophisticated consumer
standard required the court to view a debt collection attempt from the
perspectives of unsophisticated consumers to determine if it misled
consumers in the ways prohibited by the FDCPA.177  The Eighth Cir-
cuit’s failure to fully apply the unsophisticated consumer standard
promulgated the assumption that only a threat of litigation could con-
fuse consumers.178

In McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC,179 the United States Court
of Appeals for the Seventh Circuit acknowledged the importance of
applying the unsophisticated consumer standard to determine
whether debt collection practices violated the FDCPA.180  There is a

172. 248 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2001).
173. Compare Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Servs., 248 F.3d 767, 771 (8th Cir.

2001) (acknowledging the unsophisticated consumer standard but failing to apply it di-
rectly to the collection letter Freyermuth received), with Buchanan v. Northland Grp.,
776 F.3d 393, 399 (6th Cir. 2015) (addressing the variety of definitions of the term “set-
tlement” to evaluate if the collection letter could mislead consumers regarding the legal
status of debt).

174. See McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC, 744 F.3d 1010, 1020 (7th Cir. 2014)
(recognizing that debt collectors’ use of confusing language regarding the legal enforce-
ability of debt may violate the FDCPA).

175. See Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 397 (acknowledging that the court must first deter-
mine if a consumer’s allegation of confusion is plausible by evaluating the debt collec-
tion through the eyes of the consumer).

176. See Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (following the analyses of previous cases that
centered on creditors’ threats of litigation and reasoning that Checkmate did not violate
the FDCPA because it did not threaten legal action in collection letters to Freyermuth).

177. Id.
178. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (asserting that collection letters must be

evaluated using the unsophisticated consumer standard but subsequently considering
only the threat of litigation), with McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (recognizing the impor-
tance of the distinction between what may confuse a consumer and what may confuse a
judge), and Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 399 (evaluating whether a debt collection letter us-
ing the phrase “settlement offer” was misleading by addressing common definitions of
the phrase).

179. 744 F.3d 1010 (7th Cir. 2014).
180. McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1019-20.
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distinction between what may be confusing for consumers and what
may be confusing for judges.181  It would be inappropriate for a court
to assume what unsophisticated consumers know about debt and debt
collection.182  The Eighth Circuit’s inadequate application of the unso-
phisticated consumer standard contributed to the court’s incorrect in-
terpretation of the FDCPA because the court disregarded the
possibility that attempts to collect time-barred debt could mislead a
consumer about the legal status of the debt.183

The Eighth Circuit did not adequately evaluate Checkmate’s debt
collection attempts through the eyes of an unsophisticated con-
sumer.184  In doing so, the court failed to address what language, be-
yond threats of litigation, could mislead consumers.185  Its inadequate
evaluation led the court to disregard the applicability of § 1692e(2)(A),
which prohibits the false representation of the legal status of debt.186

181. See id. at 1020 (recognizing that what may seem obvious to a legal or sophisti-
cated reader may not be as clear to unsophisticated readers); see also Buchanan, 776
F.3d at 399 (examining the formal and informal definitions of terms like “settle” to de-
termine if consumers could be confused when such terms are included in a collection
letter attempting to collect time-barred debt).

182. Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 399.  The United States Court of Appeals for the Sixth
Circuit acknowledged that a consumer could unknowingly revive the statute of limita-
tions on a debt by making a partial payment. Id.; McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1021.  The
Seventh Circuit addressed the mistakes a vulnerable consumer could make when a debt
collection attempt confuses a consumer about the legal status of debt. Id.

183. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (focusing only on a creditor’s threat of
litigation to find a potential violation of the FDCPA), with Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 398
(noting that a collection letter that uses a phrase such as “settlement agreement” could
confuse a consumer about the legal status of debt and violate the FDCPA), and McMa-
hon, 744 F.3d at 1021 (acknowledging that creditors’ misrepresentations about the legal
status of debt were also prohibited under the FDPCA).

184. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (noting that debt collection letters must
be evaluated through the eyes of the unsophisticated consumer but failing to fully apply
the standard to Checkmate’s collection letters), with Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 399 (exam-
ining formal and informal definitions of terms like “settle” to determine consumers
could be misled about the legal enforceability of debt).

185. See McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1021 (evaluating language that might mislead a
vulnerable consumer in regard to the legal status of debt); see also Daugherty v. Conver-
gent Outsourcing, Inc., 836 F.3d 507, 511 (5th Cir. 2016) (acknowledging that the
phrase “settlement offer” could mislead consumers to believe debt is legally enforcea-
ble); Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 399 (determining if language used was misleading by ad-
dressing common definitions of terms used in collection letters).

186. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (determining that the threat of litigation
was required to find a violation of FDCPA), with Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 396 (recogniz-
ing the range of abusive practices prohibited by the FDCPA), and McMahon, 744 F.3d
at 1021 (determining the plain language of the FDCPA prohibits deceptive practices
beyond just the threat to take legal action that cannot be taken).
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C. BY FAILING TO ADDRESS § 1692E(2)(A) OF THE FDCPA, THE

EIGHTH CIRCUIT INCORRECTLY INTERPRETED THE FDCPA AS

APPLIED TO PRACTICES USED TO COLLECT TIME-BARRED DEBT

In Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Services,187 the Eighth Circuit
incorrectly interpreted the protections afforded under the FDCPA as
applied to creditors’ attempts to collect time-barred debt.188  Congress
enacted the FDCPA to stop debt collectors from using abusive and un-
fair debt collection practices.189  Section 1692e of the FDPCA specifi-
cally targets creditors’ use of false or misleading representations to
collect debt.190  In Freyermuth, the Eighth Circuit narrowed its analy-
sis of § 1692e to § 1692e(5), which prohibits threats to take impermis-
sible legal action.191  The court’s focus on § 1692e(5) disregarded the
protections Congress intended the FDCPA to provide to consumers
and enabled the court to find that Checkmate did not violate the
FDCPA because its collection letters did not contain any threats to
take legal action.192  A threat of litigation would have been a blatant
violation of the FDCPA because the statute of limitations on
Freyermuth’s debt barred legal action.193

In focusing solely on § 1692e(5), the Eighth Circuit failed to ad-
dress how Checkmate’s attempts to collect time-barred debt could
have misled Freyermuth about the legal status of his debt.194  Section
1692e(2)(A) of the FDCPA prohibits the false representation of the

187. 248 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2001).
188. Compare Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Servs., 248 F.3d 767, 771 (8th Cir.

2001) (concluding that creditors must threaten impermissible legal action to violate the
FDPCA), with McMahon v. LVNV Funding, LLC, 744 F.3d 1010, 1020-21 (7th Cir. 2014)
(determining that the FDCPA also prohibited creditors from using collection practices
that could mislead consumers about the character or legal status of debt).

189. See Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (lacking analysis regarding what debt collec-
tion practices beyond the threat of impermissible legal action could violate the FDCPA,
which would implicate 15 U.S.C. § 1692e).  The FDCPA prohibits creditors’ use of false
and misleading representations to collect debt. Id.; S. REP. 95-382, at 4.  The proposed
FDCPA legislation expressly prohibited the misrepresentation of consumers’ legal
rights. Id.

190. Id.; 15 U.S.C. § 1692e.
191. Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 770.
192. Compare id. at 771 (acknowledging that prior cases focused on the threat of

legal action to determine if a creditor had violated the FDCPA in attempts to collect
time-barred debt), with S. REP. 95-382, at 4 (recognizing that the proposed FDCPA leg-
islation expressly prohibited several deceptive collection practices, but also generally
prohibited all misleading collection practices to enable to court to proscribe additional
improper conduct not specifically prohibited).

193. See Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (citing Kimber v. Fed. Fin. Corp., 668 F. Supp.
1480 (M.D. Ala. 1987), to find a creditor violated the FDCPA when a lawsuit was filed
on a time-barred debt).  The statute of limitations for commencing an action for the
collection of debt is five years. NEB. REV. STAT. § 25-205 (2016).

194. See Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (concluding that because Checkmate did not
threaten legal action, it did not violate the FDCPA); see also McMahon, 744 F.3d at
1020-21 (recognizing that the plain language of the FDCPA also prohibits the use of any
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character or legal status of debt.195  It is a violation of the FDCPA to
use language that may confuse consumers about the legal status of
their debt.196  The language used by a creditor need not expressly
threaten litigation to constitute a violation of the FDCPA.197  A credi-
tor could violate the FDCPA by using deceptive language leading con-
sumers to believe that his or her debt is legally enforceable.198  A
vulnerable consumer may be compelled to provide payment, which is
problematic in states with statutes that allow partial payment to
restart the statute of limitations for debt.199

The FDCPA was enacted to stop debt collectors from using decep-
tive and abusive practices in debt collection.200  The Eighth Circuit
narrowed its focus to the threat of legal action under § 1692e(5).201  In

false, deceptive, or misleading representation about the character or legal status of any
debt).

195. 15 U.S.C. § 1692e(2)(A). This section of the FDCPA prohibits creditors from
making misleading statements by providing:

A debt collector may not use any false, deceptive, or misleading representation
or means in connection with the collection of any debt. Without limiting the
general application of the foregoing, the following conduct is a violation of this
section: . . . (2) The false representation of (A) the character, amount, or legal
status of any debt.

Id.
196. See McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (determining that the FDCPA prohibits mis-

representation of the character or legal status of debt and that misrepresenting the
legal enforceability of debt is also prohibited because it is a central fact of the character
and legal status of debt); see also Buchanan v. Northland Grp., 776 F.3d 393, 398-99
(6th Cir. 2015) (recognizing that a creditor’s misrepresentation about the creditor’s
right to sue is a violation of the FDCPA’s prohibition against the false representation of
the legal status of debt).

197. See Daugherty v. Convergent Outsourcing, Inc. 836 F.3d 507, 511 (5th Cir.
2016) (determining language used by debt collectors as sufficiently misleading to violate
§ 1692e(2)(A) of the FDCPA although legal action was not expressly threatened); see
also Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 398 (recognizing that the CFPB found that consumers could
be misled about the legal enforceability of debt without threats of litigation).

198. Id.  at 399.
199. Id.  Michigan maintained a statute of limitations for debt that could be revived

upon partial payment, leaving consumers exposed to a substantial risk if less than full
payment is made. Id.

200. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (holding that a creditor does not violate
the FDCPA when attempting to collect time-barred debt if legal action is not
threatened), with Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511 (noting that the FDCPA has a nonexclu-
sive list of prohibited practices, which includes the misrepresentation of the character
or legal status of debt), Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 398-99 (determining collection letters
that mislead consumers about a creditor’s right to sue on the debt violate the FDCPA
under § 1692e(2)(A)), McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1021 (recognizing that the plain language
of the FDCPA also prohibits the use of misleading representations of the legal status of
debt), and S. REP. 95-382, at 4 (listing the express prohibitions of the FDCPA, including
the misrepresentation of consumers’ legal rights).

201. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 770 (recognizing that the FDCPA prohibits
the use of any false or misleading representations in the collection of debt, but failing to
address other violations beyond threats to take impermissible legal action), with
Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511 (reasoning that since Congress intended the FDCPA to have
a broad remedial scope, the FDCPA should be construed broadly and in the consumers’
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doing so, the court disregarded the applicability of § 1692e(2)(A),
which addresses the false representation of the legal status of debt.202

The Eighth Circuit disregarded misrepresentations about the legal
status of debt, which led to its incorrect interpretation of the protec-
tions afforded by the FDCPA.203

V. CONCLUSION

In Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Services,204 the United States
Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit focused solely on the applica-
tion of § 1692e(5) of the FDCPA.205  The Eighth Circuit acknowledged
that the unsophisticated consumer standard is used to evaluate collec-
tion letters and found that Checkmate did not threaten impermissible
legal action.206  The Eighth Circuit focused on whether Checkmate
had threatened legal action to determine if there was a violation of the
FDCPA.207  The court held that a creditor can attempt to collect time-
barred debt so long as legal action is not taken or threatened.208

The Eighth Circuit misinterpreted the protections afforded to con-
sumers under the FDCPA by disregarding the applicability of
§ 1692e(2)(A) and failing to adequately apply the unsophisticated con-

favor), Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 396, 398 (asserting that the FDCPA’s addition of the term
“misleading” suggests that the statute prohibits more than just falsehoods and that col-
lection letters that confuse consumers about the creditors’ right to sue on time-barred
debt are also prohibited), McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1021 (determining that attempts to
collect time-barred debt could violate the FDCPA if creditors’ misleading representa-
tions confuse consumers about the legal status of debt), and S. REP. 95-382, at 4 (ac-
knowledging that the proposed FDCPA legislation expressly prohibits several deceptive
debt collection practices, including the misrepresentation of consumers’ legal rights,
and generally prohibits any misleading collection practices to allow courts to proscribe
other prohibited conduct).

202. See Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 396 (acknowledging the FDCPA’s range of prohib-
ited debt collection practices, including the false representation of the legal status of
debt); see also Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511 (recognizing the list of prohibited practices
includes the false representation of the legal status of debt, determining the FDCPA is
to have a broad remedial scope); McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (determining that the use
of confusing language about the legal status of debt is straightforward under the
FDCPA absent the express threat of litigation).

203. Compare Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771 (focusing on the threat of litigation when
evaluating whether creditors’ attempts to collect time-barred debts are a violation of the
FDCPA), with Daugherty, 836 F.3d at 511 (recognizing that debt collection attempts
that are silent as to litigation can still be sufficiently deceptive to violate the FDCPA),
Buchanan, 776 F.3d at 400 (distinguishing its interpretation of the FDCPA because it
addresses the possibility that consumers might be confused about the enforceability of
debt and risks with partial payment), and McMahon, 744 F.3d at 1020 (determining
that the legal enforceability of debt is a central fact about the legal status of debt, such
that a misrepresentation as to that fact would blatantly violate the FDCPA).

204. 248 F.3d 767 (8th Cir. 2001).
205. Freyermuth v. Credit Bureau Servs., 248 F.3d 767, 770 (8th Cir. 2001).
206. Freyermuth, 248 F.3d at 771.
207. Id.
208. Id.
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sumer standard.209  The Eighth Circuit’s specific focus on § 1692e(5)
fostered its inability to acknowledge that a consumer could be misled
about the legal status of debt, even if a creditor does not threaten legal
action.210  By disregarding how a consumer can be misled by a credi-
tor’s attempt to collect time-barred debt, the court failed to effectuate
Congress’s purpose in enacting the FDCPA.211

The Eighth Circuit’s holding in Freyermuth suggests the court has
either severely overestimated consumers’ knowledge of their legal
rights or blatantly underestimated creditors’ ability to deceive and
mislead consumers.  The Eighth Circuit should revisit their holding in
Freyermuth and acknowledge that the FDCPA not only prohibits cred-
itors’ threats to take impermissible legal action, but also debt collec-
tion practices that mislead consumers about the legal status of debt.
Through an adequate application of the unsophisticated consumer
standard guided by the complete protections of the FDCPA, the court
can determine what language and practices may deceive consumers.

Shai Gonzales—’19

209. See supra notes 187-203 and accompanying text.
210. See supra notes 172-186 and accompanying text.
211. See supra notes 155-171 and accompanying text.




